THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

2016-UP-091 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Feb. 24, 2016)
Case No. 2010-CP-23-1646
Appellate Case No. 2013-002257

Kyle Pertuis, Respondent,

v.

Front Roe Restaurants, Inc., Beachfront
Foods, Inc., Lake Point Restaurants, Inc.,
Mark Hammond and Larkin Hammond, Petitioners.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

John S. Nichols, SC Bar # 4210
BLUESTEIN NICHOLS THOMPSON & DELGADO
Post Office Box 7965
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 779-7599
(803) 779-8995 (facsimile)
jsnichols@bntdlaw.com
Attorney for Petitioners Mark and Larkin Hammond

Curtis Stodghill, SC Bar # 6458

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Did the Court of Appeals err in summarily denying Petitioners' request to supplement the Record on Appeal?
- II. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding the issues Petitioners argued were not preserved for appeal?
- III. Did the Court of Appeals err in finding a "*de facto*" partnership in this case, particularly where the arguments and rulings dealt with "amalgamation," not "*de facto*" partnership?
- IV. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's finding of an amalgamated business located in Greenville, South Carolina?
- V. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's award of a 7.2% interest in Front Roe Restaurants, Inc., to Respondent?
- VI. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's finding of a "zero" value for Beachfront Foods, Inc.?
- VII. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's finding of oppression of Respondent as a "minority shareholder"?
- VIII. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's award to Respondent of \$99,117 for alleged unpaid "shareholder distributions"?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case began on March 1, 2010, as an action by Front Roe Restaurants, Inc., seeking an order declaring that any disclosure of financial records to Mr. Pertuis would be subject to a confidentiality agreement. The circuit court entered a protective order and Mr. Pertuis received the information he requested.

The case changed into a minority shareholder oppression claim Mr. Pertuis filed on September 6, 2012, and was tried in that context after the parties were realigned by agreement. Mr. Pertuis sought damages for alleged minority shareholder oppression and an order requiring the Respondents to purchase the value of his shares in each corporation.

A non-jury trial was held May 28 and 29, 2013. In lieu of closing arguments the court directed the parties to submit their proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law by June 7, 2013. Petitioners filed their motion for directed verdict on May 31, 2013, because the court did not entertain motions on the record. Petitioners also filed their proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law as directed on June 7, 2013.

On June 18, 2013, the trial court notified counsel for the parties of its decision adopting Mr. Pertuis' submission. The court found an amalgamation of companies, found there was oppression of Mr. Pertuis, awarded Mr. Pertuis a 7.2% interest in Front Roe, and awarded Mr. Pertuis \$99,116.00 in distributions that were purportedly unpaid. The court entered the order July 3, 2013. On July 19, 2013, Petitioners filed a joint motion to alter or amend the judgment. On September 9, 2013, the trial court entered an order correcting mathematical errors in the original order but otherwise adhering to the prior judgment.

Petitioners pursued a joint appeal. The Court of Appeals held oral argument on

October 14, 2015. At argument the panel questioned whether Petitioners had raised the issues to the trial court and gotten rulings thereon. During responsive argument Mr. Pertuis' counsel conceded that the Petitioners had raised all issues and the trial court had ruled upon those issues. Mr. Pertuis also made no argument to the contrary in his brief.

The next day, October 15, 2015, Petitioners moved the Court of Appeals for leave to file a supplemental record on appeal demonstrating that the issues had been raised and ruled upon below. There had been no question regarding error preservation during briefing. Mr. Pertuis did not file any opposition to the motion.

On February 24, 2016, the Court of Appeals issued its opinion. *Pertuis v. Front Roe Restaurants, Inc.*, 2016-UP-091 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Feb. 24, 2016). The Court first declined the motion to supplement the record on appeal. The Court added that even if it considered the arguments preserved it would affirm. However, the Court then found each argument not preserved based upon the record it had before it (*i.e.*, without the supplemental material).

On March 10, 2016, Petitioners sought reconsideration. Mr. Pertuis filed no return in opposition. On March 31, 2016, the Court of Appeals denied rehearing. This Petition follows.

ARGUMENTS

I. The Court of Appeals Should Have Permitted Petitioners to Supplement the Record on Appeal and Should Not Have Ruled Petitioners Issues Were Not Preserved for Appellate Review

At oral argument, the Court of Appeals expressed, *sua sponte*, its concern that the record did not indicate various arguments were raised to or ruled upon by the trial court. Because the Court had these concerns, Petitioners sought leave pursuant to Rule 212(b), SCACR, to provide the Court with the material that demonstrated the issues had been raised and ruled upon below. In its decision, however, the Court denied this motion and declared this denial rendered “some of the briefed arguments unpreserved.” The Court noted that “counsel for Pertuis stated at oral argument that he believed the issues were properly preserved on appeal—*i.e.*, they had been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court,” but added “the record presented to this court fails to support such,” ostensibly without the proffered material in the motion to supplement. The Court cited to *Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012), for the proposition that “[Our appellate courts] are not precluded from finding an issue unpreserved even when the parties themselves do not argue error preservation to us.”

In relying on *Lewis*, the Court misapprehended the majority’s discussion in *Lewis*. The Supreme Court affirmed due to the “two issue rule” because the Record demonstrated without doubt that the trial court had ruled for respondent on several alternative grounds and the appellant had appealed only one of them. Justice Hearn wrote:

While it may be good practice for us to reach the merits of an issue when error preservation is doubtful, we should follow our longstanding precedent and resolve the issue on preservation grounds when it clearly is

unpreserved. *Here, we do not believe the existence of this procedural bar is questionable and would place no weight on the fact that neither the parties nor the court of appeals raised it.* Therefore, the two-issue rule precludes our consideration of Lewis's arguments.

Id. at 330, 730 S.E.2d at 285 (emphasis added). There was no doubt the two issue rule applied in *Lewis* – an alternative basis upholding the judgment was not appealed. By withholding leave to supplement the record, and then declaring this ruling renders the issues unpreserved under *Lewis*, the Court of Appeals misapplied that decision. As then Chief Justice Toal explained in her dissent in *Lewis*:

I believe that where the question of preservation is subject to multiple interpretations, any doubt should be resolved in favor of preservation. When the opposing party does not raise a preservation issue on appeal, courts are not precluded from finding the issue unpreserved if the error is clear. However, the silence of an adversary should serve as an indicator to the court of the obscurity of the purported procedural flaw.

Id. at 333, 730 S.E.2d at 287 (Toal, CJ, dissenting).

In this case there is *no doubt* that the issues *were* raised. Further, Respondent was *not* “silent” on the point like the respondent in *Lewis*; instead, Respondent admitted at oral argument that the issues *were* raised and ruled upon.

Leave of court indicates permission, but a court should not withhold that permission without good reason. In the initial record on appeal Petitioners included the trial court's ruling on the post-verdict motions. (R. pp. 13-15). Even *that* order notes that the motions were made and that “Defendants renewed their Motion for a Directed Verdict in writing on May 31, 2013, which Motion has not yet been resolved.” (R. p. 15). That order resolved those motions in their entirety. (R. p.15).

The Court of Appeals also overlooked the fact that this case was tried nonjury. Rule

52, SCRCP, governs “Findings by the Court,” and provides:

(b) Amendment. Upon motion of a party made not later than 10 days after receipt of written notice of entry of judgment the court may amend its findings or make additional findings and may amend the judgment accordingly, and the motion may be made with a timely motion for a new trial. *When findings of fact are made in actions tried by the court without a jury, the question of the sufficiency of the evidence to support the findings may thereafter be raised whether or not the party raising the question has made in the trial court an objection to such findings or has made a motion to amend them or a motion for judgment.*

Rule 52(b), SCRCP (Emphasis added). Again, there is no doubt that Petitioners filed a motion for the trial court to amend its findings and reconsider its ruling as demonstrated by its order denying the same.

The Court of Appeals repeatedly stated “[t]here is no indication in the record presented to this court” that various arguments were made, which is a reference to the original Record on Appeal. These statements overlooked that Respondent did not remain silent about error preservation but expressly conceded that these issues were preserved. These statements also overlooked the contents of the supplemental record, which at minimum creates doubt about whether the arguments were made to the trial court and that the trial court ruled upon them all. And the order disposing of the post-judgment motions removes all doubt.

Imposing error preservation requirements on an appellant “is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.” *I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). The lower court *had* the opportunity to rule on Respondent’s arguments. The Court of Appeals misapprehended *I’On*’s stated intent of error preservation rules as well as the policies

underlying the primary purpose of the judiciary, which is to see that issues are decided on the merits rather than technicalities. *Micronics, Inc. v. South Carolina Department of Revenue*, 345 S.C. 506, 548 S.E.2d 223 (Ct. App. 2001). While rules governing preservation serve a valuable purpose where there is no doubt that an issue was not raised to or ruled upon by the trial court, those purposes are not served by an overly zealous (in fact, incorrect) application, especially where there is no doubt (and no dispute) that the issues were raised and ruled upon below.

Accordingly, Petitioners request that the Court grant this Petition for Writ of Certiorari and reverse the Court of Appeals' decision to deny Petitioners' request (which Respondents did not oppose) to supplement the Record with the post-verdict motions that demonstrate these arguments were, in fact, preserved. Petitioners also request that the Court consider the materials when reviewing whether the issues argued on appeal were, in fact, raised to and ruled upon by the trial court.

II. The Court of Appeals Erred in Finding a “*De Facto*” Partnership in this Case, Particularly Where the Arguments and Rulings Dealt with “Amalgamation,” Not “*De Facto*” Partnership

The Court of Appeals held the trial court did not find the entities “amalgamated” under the standards enunciated in *Magnolia North Property Owners' Ass'n, Inc. v. Heritage Communities, Inc.* Instead, the Court of Appeals found something different, that is, that a “*de facto*” partnership existed. The Court of Appeals overlooked or misapprehended several things in reaching this conclusion.

First, the trial court itself stated it was “applying the standards articulated in

Magnolia North Property Owners' Ass'n, Inc. v. Heritage Communities, Inc., 397 S.C. 348, 725 S.E.2d 112 (Ct. App. 2012).” (R. p. 6). The trial court did this because it viewed the separate corporate entities involved in this case as having lost their separate identities, a concept that is at the heart of amalgamation of under *Magnolia*. Although the trial court used the phrase “*de facto* partnership of the corporate entities,” the court expressly applied *Magnolia*, an amalgamation case. While the Court of Appeals stated “the order itself never specifically found the separate entities were amalgamated,” that statement overlooked that this was *precisely* what the trial court was doing, and why the trial court expressly stated it was applying *Magnolia* – to find otherwise renders the trial court’s cite to *Magnolia* meaningless and absurd.

Furthermore, everyone understood this case involved an amalgamation argument and ruling: the trial judge (R. p. 6), the Respondent (App. pp. 101-104), and of course the Petitioners. Respondent never argued that the trial court’s use of *Magnolia* was merely a label and not controlling; in fact, Respondent specifically advocated that this case involved amalgamation *and only amalgamation*. Respondent’s entire argument on this point under the heading “Amalgamation” and after reciting testimony, is as follows:

The Lower Court applied the holding of [*Magnolia*] to amalgamate the corporate entities for purposes of resolving the intra-corporate shareholder dispute presented in this case. The Record shows that the corporate entities have identical ownership, the corporate entities have been operated as a unified business operation. Judicial amalgamation, for the purpose of adjudicating the common issues of this case, offers judicial economy in the resolution of identical claims arising from identical factual scenarios.

Pertuis, therefore, argues that *Magnolia, supra*, and its antecedent cases, should apply to this case, first for judicial economy, but also to afford parties in parallel, intra-corporate shareholder disputes an opportunity to

litigate, in a single case, their differences. A single venue for the resolution of amalgamated corporate issues offers fair play and economy to the disputants.

Indeed Pertuis argues that *Magnolia* should apply to open the same door to single-venue, intra-corporate litigation disputes as *Magnolia* offers to parties tortiously damaged by multiple entities which have been fractured to avoid common liability. Pertuis respectfully submits that it is a logical extension of the *ratio decidendi* of *Magnolia*, to apply *Magnolia* to this case. Pertuis cites to the following from *Magnolia* to support his assertion that he should be allowed to litigate his claims in a single action:

The evidence revealed an amalgamation of corporate interests, entities, and activities so as to blur the legal distinction between the corporations and their activities.

Magnolia, supra, citing *Mid-South Mgmt. Co. v. Sherwood Dev. Corp.*, [374 S.C. 588, 649 S.E.2d 135 (Ct. App. 2007)].

The record of this case reflects a blurring of the legal distinction between the members of Larkins Restaurant Group sufficient to subject the members to Pertuis' claims, in one action in South Carolina.

Based on the foregoing, Pertuis respectfully submits that the application of *Magnolia, supra*, to amalgamate the members of Larkins Restaurant Group, for purposes of adjudicating these identical intra-corporate shareholder disputes in a single action, is correct.

(App. pp. 101-102). There is *no* contention that the case involved anything but amalgamation of corporate entities under *Magnolia*.

The Court of Appeals also held that Petitioners' argument that Respondent cannot argue amalgamation on the one hand and then seek separate valuation is conclusory and deemed that argument abandoned. This holding ignored the overall arguments *both* parties made here. Petitioners contended each entity was separate and should have been treated separately, while Respondent argued the three separate entities lost their separate character and were properly blended into an amalgamated entity. If Petitioners are correct, then the

entities should be valued separately – no authority is needed for that principle. If Respondent is correct – that the entities became one amalgamated entity – then they should be valued as one entity (using the correct values for each). That is the nature of amalgamation.

The Court of Appeals also noted Petitioners' own expert valued the entities separately. This statement overlooked that such separate valuation was logical since Petitioners contended each entity retained its own separate identity, the entities were not amalgamated, and the entities should have been treated separately in determining Respondent's interest, if any, in each.

Accordingly, Petitioners respectfully request that the Court grant this Petition and reverse the Court of Appeals' affirmance of the trial court's inconsistent rulings regarding amalgamation of the entities yet assigning the various entities separate treatment when identifying Respondent's purported interest in each.

III. The Court of Appeals Erred in Affirming the Trial Court's Finding of an Amalgamated Business Located in Greenville, South Carolina

The Court of Appeals found Petitioners' argument here does not explain prejudice from a finding that the "locus" of the business was in Greenville, and that there was evidence to support this finding.

First, the Court overlooked that had Petitioners not challenged this finding (that the amalgamated business is located in Greenville), the Court of Appeals may have found it to have been an unchallenged alternative ruling.

Second, the only evidence in the record was that two of the entities were located in

North Carolina, and were not part of any amalgamated company or *de facto* partnership with its “locus” in Greenville, South Carolina. The three entities filed separate tax returns and had separate loan obligations to third parties, separate contracts with third parties, separate accounting records, separate bank records and separate credit cards. (R. p. 357, l. 24 - p. 360, l. 11). Respondent was paid separately by each entity. (R. p. 279; Def. Exh. 14, p. 546).

This argument is connected with Petitioners’ argument that the trial court erred in applying the principles of *Magnolia* in finding an amalgamation of entities. If the entities were not amalgamated, they were not all located in Greenville, and there is no evidence to support otherwise.

Accordingly, Petitioners request that the Court grant this Petition and reverse the trial court’s ruling that the entities became amalgamated and that the blended entity had its locus in Greenville, South Carolina.

IV. The Court of Appeals Erred in Affirming the Trial Court’s Award of a 7.2% Interest in Front Roe Restaurants, Inc., to Respondent

In ruling upon this issue, the Court of Appeals overlooked or misapprehended several points.

First, in disagreeing with Petitioners’ argument that the trial court did, in fact, reject Respondent’s claim to a 10% ownership, the Court of Appeals ignored the trial court’s specific finding that the business *never* obtained the required threshold for Respondent to attain a 10% ownership. (R. pp. 7-8). Instead, the trial court announced it was going to award Responding 7.2% as a matter of equity representing 72% of the threshold required to vest.

As a basis for this ruling, the trial court stated “equity regards and treats as done that which in good conscience ought to be done,” citing to *Wilkie v. Philadelphia Life Ins. Co.*, 187 S.C. 382, 197 S.E. 375 (1938). (R. p. 8). The Court of Appeals overlooked that Respondent did not seek this graduated award but claimed *only* entitlement to the full 10%.

Second, the Court of Appeals stated it did not believe the trial court intended to analogize this case to *Wilkie*. This statement ignored that the trial court stated that this was precisely what it was doing. (R. pp. 7-8). This statement also ignored that Respondent himself contended the trial court “employed” this maxim from *Wilkie* to reach the result. (App. pp. 107-108). In fact, Respondent stated in his brief: “In *Wilkie*, the Lower Court found an apt precedent for authority to remedy Mark Hammond’s breach of the email agreement which had promised that Pertuis would enjoy 10% ownership in Larkins on the River Restaurant.” (App. p. 108).

The Court of Appeals noted Petitioners argued the maxim from *Wilkie* that “equity regards and treats as done that which in good conscience ought to be done” is “generally applied in cases involving constructive trusts imposed due to fraud” but rejected this argument, stating Petitioners cited no law in support of this proposition. In so holding, the Court overlooked that this principle underlies settled law in South Carolina that “constructive trusts have been said to arise through the application of the doctrine of equitable estoppel, or under the broad doctrine that equity regards and treats as done what in good conscience ought to be done.” *Wolfe v. Wolfe*, 215 S.C. 530, 56 S.E.2d 343 (1949); *Dominick v. Rhodes*, 202 S.C. 139, 24 S.E.2d 168 (1943); *Greene v. Brown*, 199 S.C. 218, 19 S.E.2d 114 (1942); *Bank of Williston v. Alderman*, 106 S.C. 386, 91 S.E. 296 (1917); *Halbersberg v. Berry*, 302

S.C. 97, 394 S.E.2d 7 (Ct. App. 1990). That is where this equitable maxim finds the most common usage, *i.e.*, is “generally applied.” That is also how Respondent contended the doctrine should be applied in this case, *i.e.*, to correct “constructive fraud.” (App. p. 108).

The Court of Appeals also noted that the *Wilkie* Court added that the “doctrine applies in those cases only where the party seeking to invoke it has established a clear obligation based upon a valuable consideration that another do some act which he has failed to perform.” In applying this rule the Court stated Petitioners “*arguably*, owed a duty to [Respondent] to document his greater ownership in [Front Roe] based upon his continued management of the various entities.” (Emphasis added). In so ruling, the Court ignored that Respondent never based his claim of ownership on that theory; rather, he contended he was entitled to 10% pursuant to the parties’ express agreement, and the trial court found Front Roe never attained the necessary threshold. Further, saying something “*arguably*” exists is not the same as saying an obligation is “clear,” as set forth in *Wilkie*.

Next, the evidence demonstrated that from 2007 forward, Respondent received a K-1 Form from Front Roe indicating he was a 1% owner. Respondent never filed a corrected return with the IRS in which he asserted he owned any more than 1% in Front Roe. (R. p. 213, ll.3-11; p. 213, l. 23 - p. 214, l. 21; p. 214, ll.1-4; p. 420, ll.11-17; p. 974).

Finally, the Court of Appeals noted further an email exchange as evidence of an attempt to frustrate Respondent’s effort to achieve a 10% interest in Front Roe by “changing the threshold.” *Pertuis v. Front Roe Restaurants*, slip at 9 n. 4. That exchange, however, demonstrates Respondent’s understanding and agreement regarding the vesting schedule. The Record reveals that in June 2009, Mr. Hammond sent Respondent an email setting forth the

review of his compensation. (R. p. 270, ll.18-19; pp. 540-542). The email set forth some options for Respondent to choose regarding his future compensation. (R. p. 270, l. 21 - p. 271, l. 12). This included payment to Respondent of 8% of “net shareholder distributions.” (R. p. 271, ll.20-25). At the time Respondent owned 10% of Lake Point, 10% of Beachfront and 1% of Front Roe. (R. p. 272, ll.1-8). Mr. Hammond looked at the distributions to Respondent from 2007 amounted to an aggregate of 8% of all of the shareholder distributions. (R. p. 272, l.9- p. 273, l.2). That 8% aggregate was based in part on the 1% interest in Front Roe. (R. p. 273, ll.4-6; p. 331, l. 15 - p. 332, l. 18). Mr. Hammond got the information from QuickBooks because the 2008 taxes had not been completed. (R. p. 273, l.7-p. 274, l.14; p. 274, l.21- p. 275, l.16). The 8% figure an aggregate and does not represent Respondent’s ownership as more than 1% in Front Roe. (R. p. 276, ll.9-18). Respondent had access to all of the information in the QuickBooks program. (R. p. 276, ll.19-25).

The email also said “if we go with option A in that second column, we will extend the original timeline on the River into 2009 if the numbers for 2008 fall short of what you need under the original agreement to get you to 10 percent ownership across the board.” (R. p. 277, ll.1-8; pp. 540-542). Respondent responded by saying “if I did not achieve 10 percent ownership in 2008, we will extend the current program for 2009 in order to equalize current ownership at 10 percent across the board.” (R. p. 278, ll.13-19; p. 543). It was clear to both parties that they were extending the initial program through 2009. (R. p. 279, ll.2-7; p. 320, ll.19-22; p. 335, ll.13-19). Respondent resigned before the threshold was achieved.

The Court should grant this Petition and reverse the trial court’s application of *Wilkie* to justify awarding relief Respondent did not seek and which is not supported by the record.

V. The Court of Appeals Erred in Affirming the Trial Court's Finding of a "Zero" Value for Beachfront Foods, Inc.

In affirming the trial court's finding that Beachfront had "no value," the Court of Appeals ignored that the preponderance of the evidence did not support this finding. Rather, the only evidence was that Beachfront had a negative value. Dr. Alford testified that Beachfront had "negative equity" that he assessed at <-\$410,271>. (R. p. 173, ll.23-24; p. 175, ll.15-21; p. 459). Louis Manios valued Beachfront at a negative <-\$620,000>. (R. p. 381, l.25- p. 382, l.12).

The Court of Appeals stated the trial court found Mr. Manios "conceded some matters and was not credible in others." The Court misstated the trial court's ruling here. The trial court found specifically that "Mr. Manios' testimony *as to the dismal future presented for [Front Roe]* was not credible and did not take into account the growth and vibrancy of the downtown area of Greenville and the value of the name 'Larkins' as a brand." (R. p. 10) (emphasis added). That is, the trial court's finding regarding credibility was limited to a discussion of Mr. Manios' testimony regarding *Front Roe*, and was not related to any valuation of Beachfront.

The Court of Appeals also ignored that the *only* evidence in the record is that Beachfront had a negative value, not a "zero" value. This is important because if the Court is to affirm the finding that the three entities were joined (either as an amalgamation as the trial court found and the parties argued, or as a "*de facto* partnership" as the Court of Appeals described the business), then the negative portion must offset any finding of positive value of other aspects of the blended entity's overall value.

This Court should grant this Petition and reverse the trial court's application of a "zero" value to Beachfront.

VI. The Court of Appeals Erred in Affirming the Trial Court's Finding of Oppression of Respondent as a "Minority Shareholder"

The Court of Appeals rejected Petitioners' argument that the trial court erred in finding oppression of Respondent as a "minority shareholder" under *Kiriakides v. Atlas Food Systems & Services, Inc.*, 343 S.C. 587, 541 S.E.2d 257 (2001), *Ballard v. Roberson*, 399 S.C. 588, 733 S.E.2d 107 (2012) and *Meiselman v. Meiselman*, 307 S.E.2d 551 (N.C. 1983). In doing so, the Court of Appeals overlooked or misapprehended several points.

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