THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

**RECEIVED**

MAY 13 2016

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

---

2016-UP-091 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed Feb. 24, 2016)  
Case No. 2010-CP-23-1346  
Appellate Case No. 2013-002257

---

Kyle Pertuis,.....Respondent,

v.

Front Roe Restaurants, Inc., Beachfront  
Foods, Inc., Lake Point Restaurants, Inc.,  
Mark Hammond, Larkin Hammond,.....Petitioners.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

Robert C. Wilson, Jr., SC Bar No. 6178  
201 Whitsett Street  
Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 242-9488  
(864) 242-6251 (fax)

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

## ARGUMENTS

- 1. That Petitioners failed to preserve issues for argument on appeal matters not, because the Court of Appeals nevertheless addressed and denied all issues asserted by Petitioners on Appeal, on their merits.**

Petitioners seek the granting of a Writ of Certiorari from this Court, for review of the unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals in this case. Petitioners seek the granting of a Writ of Certiorari, first, on the grounds that the Court of Appeals unfairly relied on the provisions of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules, ("SCACR"), in finding that Petitioners had failed to properly preserve issues on appeal. The Court of Appeals, however, correctly articulated in detail the failure of Petitioners to preserve issues for appeal, as provided under SCACR and under applicable case law.

As secondary support of their assertion that the Court of Appeals unreasonably applied the Appellate Court Rules, Petitioners point to a misstatement by counsel for Respondents. Counsel for Respondents, during oral argument, incorrectly recalled that Petitioners had met the requirements of issue preservation. Petitioners now attempt to employ counsel's misstatement as a fulcrum to leverage this case, which is now six years old, into further review.

Respondent notes that, despite the Court of Appeals holding that Petitioners may have failed to preserve issues, the Court of Appeals nevertheless proceeded to address each of the issues raised on appeal by Petitioners, on their merits.

**2. Amalgamation of jointly-owned businesses for trial by the Trial Court afforded the parties a single venue for adjudication, which should not have precluded individual valuation of the businesses joined for adjudication, consistent with common sense economics.**

Petitioners assert that the Trial Court and the Court of Appeals misapprehended the holding in *Magnolia N. Prop. Owners' Ass'n., Inc. v. Heritage Cmty, Inc.* 397 SC 348, 725 SE 2d 112 (SC Ct. App. 2012) as applicable to this case. Respondent replies that the *Magnolia* case afforded a rationale for the Trial Court to consolidate an array of intra-corporate shareholder disputes into one piece of litigation. To provide a single trial for the resolution of parties' business disputes, where the jointly-owned business entities are properly subject to the Trial Court's jurisdiction, is a salutary example of judicial economy. To limit the application of the *Magnolia* case to strictly identical facts, would deprive litigants of fair opportunity to seek economical resolution of their disputes where there are several corporate entities in play. The Trial Court, whether it declared the unified business entities to be amalgamated, or to be a *de facto* partnership, was employing the rationale of the *Magnolia* case as an appropriate basis to treat separate businesses, jointly owned and operated, as one unified entity for adjudication of intra-corporate disputes.

Petitioners also argue that there is fatal inconsistency in the Courts' rulings that, once the business entities were amalgamated for trial, the valuation experts performing the valuation of

the amalgamated entities were allowed to assess the business entities separately. Both of the experts presented valuations of the businesses separately, rather than as one amalgamated business, without any objection by the parties. Indeed, Dr. Alford, in his report and in his testimony, noted that the differences presented by each of entities was unique, which militated in favor of separate valuation of the entities. It is fair to assert that, just as the sum of the parts equals the whole, so does the separate valuation of the businesses in this case necessarily present the total value of the amalgamated businesses. Petitioners' argument fails to recognize the common-sense proposition that the fair value of a business is the value of its departments, divisions, subsidiaries, *etc.*, which may have separate values but which contribute to the value of the whole.

**3. The Trial Court correctly awarded Respondent 7.2% ownership in Petitioners' flagship restaurant based, *inter alia*, on the parties' course of dealings theretofore.**

The Trial Court, seconded by the Court of Appeals, looked to the rationale of the *Wilkie v. Philadelphia Life Ins. Co.*, 187 SC 382, 197 SE 375 (1938), as authority for its exercising equitable power to hold that Respondent should receive a 7.2% shareholder interest in Front Roe Restaurants, Inc. *Wilkie* afforded the Trial Court with precedent for determining whether Respondent's managerial efforts had resulted in profitability for which Respondent should receive a full 10% ownership in Front Roe Restaurants, Inc., The parties' could not present a formal, written contract to establish whether Respondents' ownership interest had vested or not. There was ample evidence of part performance by the parties. There was, however, uncertainty as to Respondent's meeting threshold levels of performance to realize full vesting of his 10%

ownership interest, on an all-or-nothing basis.<sup>1</sup> The Trial Court fairly looked to the parties' previous course of dealings, as embodied in the parties' previous shareholder agreements (which provided for a graduated vesting program), as a basis to declare that Respondent's acquired shareholder interest in Front Roe Restaurants was 7.2%. That Respondent had brought the corporation to handsome profitability, though apparently barely "missing" arbitrary standards imposed by the majority shareholder, was an invitation to equitably adjust the parties' agreement, per the *Wilkie* case.

**4. The Court of Appeals correctly honored the business reality of the equivalency of unserviced shareholder loans as, in effect, shareholder capital contributions to equity.**

Petitioners seek Writ of Certiorari to review the lower Courts' determination that Petitioners' loans to Beachfront Foods, Inc., ("BFI"), on which no interest had been paid and for which no other debt service had occurred should be treated as shareholders' equity in the valuation of BFI. It is axiomatic that loans to closely-held corporations by shareholders who do not receive interest on such loans are treated by the business community, for valuation purposes, as shareholder equity. Addition of the amount of shareholder loans to the balance sheet for BFI, as shareholder equity, produces a zero value, for BFI, rather than a negative value. The Trial Court, and the Court of Appeals, correctly applied standard valuation protocols, based on the testimony of Dr. Alford in Trial Court. Petitioners' grievance with this valuation of BFI is ill-founded.

---

<sup>1</sup>Respondent notes that the threshold of profits for the vesting of his 10% ownership interest in Front Roe Restaurants, Inc., was a fluctuating, uncertain profit level, which Petitioners appeared to have manipulated in order to deprive Respondent of his promised ownership.

**5. The Trial Court and the Court of Appeals correctly found ample evidence of oppression of minority shareholder warranting a court-ordered buyout of minority shareholder's stock.**

The Trial Court, and the Court of Appeals found, *inter alia*, the following incidents of oppression of Respondent as a minority shareholder:

- (1) Consistent refusal to provide written documentation of promised shareholder vesting plan;
- (2) Majority's misappropriation of corporate opportunity to purchase real estate for corporation in which Respondent was minority shareholder;
- (3) Majority's denial of participation in new restaurant funded by corporate loans from corporation in which Respondent was minority shareholder;
- (4) Loss of employment, salary, benefits, bonus by Respondent;
- (5) Majority shareholders continue to reap benefits while Respondent loses the benefits of his shareholder's rights;
- (6) Corporate entities have adequate financial strength to buy out minority shareholder;
- (7) Total estrangement between majority and minority shareholders;
- (8) No public trading of stock of corporations;
- (9) No stock dividends paid to Respondent since his departure;
- (10) Respondent had to go to court to get financial information to assess the value of his shares;
- (11) No observance of corporate formalities to afford minority shareholder participation in management of corporations;
- (12) Majority misused corporate funds to resist Respondent's minority claims.

Despite the foregoing, Petitioners assert that the lower Courts erred in finding oppression of Respondent as a minority shareholder. Respondent replies that the holdings of *Ballard v.*

*Roberson*, 399 SC 588, 733 SE 2<sup>nd</sup> 107 (S.Ct. 2012), *Kiriakides v. Atlas Food Sys. & Servs., Inc.* 343 SC 587, 541 SE 2<sup>nd</sup> 257 (S.Ct. 2001), , and *Meiselman v. Meiselman*, 307 SE 2<sup>nd</sup> 551 (N.C. 1983), support the lower Courts' holdings that material oppression of Respondent, at the hands of the majority shareholders, has occurred and that such oppression warrants the court-ordered buyout granted to Respondent, to afford Respondent adequate relief.

**6. The Trial Court and the Court of Appeals correctly held that Petitioners engaged in murky bookkeeping practices which concealed that Respondent had not received shareholder distributions as shown on tax return schedules.**

Petitioners claim that Respondent did not seek compensation for unpaid distributions in his prayer for relief. As noted in the lower Courts, Respondent prayed for "such other and further relief as this Court may deem just and proper." From his omnibus prayer for relief, the Trial Court was empowered to award Respondent judgment for the unpaid distributions.